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1 An enforcement policy statement describes the 
Commission’s future enforcement plans, goals, and 
objectives with respect to a particular industry or 
practice. Enforcement policy statements do not 
have the force or effect of law, but they may reflect 
the Commission’s interpretation of a legal 
requirement. 2 75 FR 62,389 (Oct. 8, 2010). 

E. Kirschner Declaration of Trust and 
David E. Kirschner as trustee, the 
Margaret Kirschner Declaration of Trust 
and Margaret Kirschner as trustee, The 
Noble Foundation, Philip and Cheryl 
Kirschner, Khajha Kirschner, Pamela 
Kirschner Bolduc, the Mary C. 
Kirschner 2007 Trust, and David E. 
Kirschner as trustee of the Mary C. 
Kirschner 2007 Trust; to retain, as a 
group acting in concert, voting shares of 
Town and Country Financial 
Corporation, Springfield, Illinois, and 
thereby indirectly retain control of 
Town and Country Bank, Springfield, 
Illinois, and Logan County Bank, 
Lincoln, Illinois. 

In connection with the above 
application, Margaret Kirschner, 
individually and as trustee and co- 
trustee of various trusts, has applied to 
retain voting shares of Town and 
Country Financial Corporation, 
Springfield, Illinois, and thereby 
indirectly retain control of Town and 
Country Bank, Springfield, Illinois, and 
Logan County Bank, Lincoln, Illinois. 

In addition, David E. Kirschner, 
individually and as trustee and co- 
trustee of various trusts, has applied to 
retain voting shares of Town and 
Country Financial Corporation, 
Springfield, Illinois, and thereby 
indirectly retain control of Town and 
Country Bank, Springfield, Illinois, and 
Logan County Bank, Lincoln, Illinois. 

C. Federal Reserve Bank of 
Minneapolis (Jacqueline G. King, 
Community Affairs Officer) 90 
Hennepin Avenue, Minneapolis, 
Minnesota 55480–0291: 

1. Stephen L. Grobel, Tabb, Virginia; 
to individually acquire voting shares of 
First Community Bancorp, Inc., 
Glasgow, Montana, and thereby 
indirectly acquire voting shares of First 
Community Bank, Glasgow, Montana. 

In addition, Stephen L. Grobel and 
Peter J. Grobel, Helena, Montana, as 
members of the Grobel Family Group, to 
acquire voting shares of First 
Community Bancorp, Inc., and thereby 
indirectly acquire voting shares of First 
Community Bank, Glasgow, Montana. 

D. Federal Reserve Bank of San 
Francisco (Kenneth Binning, Vice 
President, Applications and 
Enforcement) 101 Market Street, San 
Francisco, California 94105–1579: 

1. Castle Creek Capital Partners IV, 
L.P., and persons that are acting with, or 
control Castle Creek Capital Partners IV, 
L.P. (Castle Creek Advisors IV, LLC; 
Castle Creek Capital IV, LLC; John T. 
Pietrzak; Pietrzak Advisory Corp.; John 
M. Eggemeyer, III; JME Advisory Corp.; 
William J. Ruh; Ruh Advisory Corp.; 
Mark G. Merlo; Legions IV Corp.; Joseph 
Mikesell Thomas and Thomas Advisory 

Corp., all of Rancho Santa Fe, 
California; to acquire voting shares of 
First NBC Bank Holding Company, and 
thereby indirectly acquire voting shares 
of First NBC Bank, both of New Orleans, 
Louisiana. 

Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System, July 22, 2011. 
Robert deV. Frierson, 
Deputy Secretary of the Board. 
[FR Doc. 2011–18956 Filed 7–26–11; 8:45 am] 
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3 75 FR 70,262 (Nov. 17, 2010). 
4 One comment was submitted twice (nos. 89 and 

http://www.ftc.gov/os/comments/decedentdebtcollection/index.shtm
http://www.ftc.gov/os/comments/decedentdebtcollection/index.shtm


44917 

http:www.elderlawmi.com/the-michigan-estate-planning-guide/chapter-7/chapter-7-probate
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34 West Asset Mgmt., Inc. at 3. 
35 Id. 
36 See N. Am. Collection Agency Regulatory Ass’n 

(‘‘We believe the three basic guidelines are tailored 
to effectively collect these types of debts and at 
same time protect the grieving parties from feeling 
obligated to personally settle the financial affairs of 
their deceased loved ones.’’); New York City Dept. 
of Consumer Affairs at 1 (‘‘the New York City 
Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA) supports 
and strongly encourages the adoption of the Federal 
Trade Commission’s (FTC) proposed policy 
statement * * *’’). 

37 See, e.g., ACA Int’l at 4 (‘‘ACA agrees with the 
Commission’s conclusion that collectors are 
permitted to communicate with the person who has 
authority to pay a decedent’s estate, even if that 
person does not fall within the enumerated 
categories listed in Section 805(d) of the FDCPA.’’); 
Barron, Newburger & Sinsley, PLLC (Dec. 1, 2010) 
at 3 (‘‘instituting probate proceedings would impose 
legal, accounting and other professional expenses 
and fees on those families, unnecessarily draining 
off assets that could otherwise go to the family * 
* * The FTC’s approach, unlike that suggested by 
the NCLC, avoids imposing an unwanted and costly 
probate proceeding that could delay resolution of 
the estate.’’); Reich; Vargo (‘‘I agree with the FTC’s 
opinion. The Personal Representative of the 
decedent is, in essence, the designated agent of the 
decedent in concluding the decedent’s financial 
affairs. The FDCPA specifically authorizes 
communication with a person designated by the 
debtor to process the matter at issue.’’). 

38 Barron, Newburger & Sinsley, PLLC (Nov. 4, 
2010) at 7. To implement the Credit Card 
Accountability Responsibility and Disclosures Act 
of 2009 ‘‘CARD Act’’), the staff of the Federal 
Reserve Board recently modified its commentary on 
Regulation Z under the Truth in Lending Act to 
provide that ‘‘the term ‘administrator’ of an estate 
means an administrator, executor, or any personal 
representative of an estate who is authorized to act 

on behalf of the estate.’’ Regulation Z Commentary, 
22.6.11(c)(1) (emphasis added). The Commentary 
allows debt collectors to contact such individuals 
to effectuate the timely resolution of credit card 
debts of decedents, a goal the comment asserted 
was consistent with the objectives the FTC 
espoused in its proposed Statement. 

39 The filing fee that a collector must pay to force 
an estate into probate varies by jurisdiction, ranging 
from nothing to as much as several hundred dollars. 
See, e.g., Ala. Code 12–19–90 ($45 + $3 per page 
over five pages); Ark. Code 16–10–305 ($140); Nev. 
Rev. Stat. 19.013 (up to $20,000, no fee; $20,000– 
200,000, $99 fee; over $200,000, $352); Wyo. Stat. 
Ann. 5–3–206 (under $5,000, $50 fee; $5,000– 
10,000, $55; for each $10,000 over $10,000, another 
$5). 

40 75 FR 62,389 at 62,390–62,393 (Oct. 8, 2010). 
See also Barron, Newburger & Sinsley, PLLC (Dec. 
1, 2010) at 3; Phillips & Cohen Asec. 0e ob
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suggest that if collectors cannot initiate a 
meaningful discussion with the person who has the 
requisite authority, many will seek relief in probate 
court, or, if probate is closed, through litigation. 

56 Nearly all individuals leave some outstanding 
bills at the time they die, even if they are not 
delinquent on those bills. Thus, a reference in the 
location communication to the decedent’s 
‘‘outstanding bills’’ is not likely to imply that the 
decedent was delinquent at time of death. The word 
‘‘debts,’’ on the other hand, is more likely to imply 
that the decedent was delinquent at time of death. 

57 See, e.g., Barboza; Forgie (‘‘I feel in NO 
INSTANCE should a debt collector be allowed to 
contact either the family or friends of deceased 
until at least 30 days after the date of death.’’); and 
Steinbach at 1 (‘‘we urge the FTC to adopt an 
enforcement rule that communication with the 
family of a deceased individual within 30 days of 
the individual’s death is a per se ‘unfair’ 
communication under 15 U.S.C. sec. 1692f. This 
rule would not preclude the finding that, depending 
on the circumstances, such communication within 
60 days or even longer could be a violation.’’). 

58 See, e.g., AARP at 1 (‘‘Debt collectors are 
keenly aware that survivors are particularly 
vulnerable after the death of their loved one.’’), 2 
(‘‘Older people are extremely vulnerable to abuses 
by debt collectors.’’), 2 (‘‘Older people living alone 
* * * may be socially isolated, particularly after 
the death of a spouse or loved one. They are also 
more easily upset by an abusive telephone call; 
indeed the stress from harassing tactics can actually d, particularly aftered one.’Lw4 communicaby anlr8eenwenforceme
T*
t t2)rds v
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64 During its law enforcement investigations of 
collectors of deceased accounts, FTC staff listened 
to thousands of calls between collectors and 
relatives, including calls in which collectors sought 
to ascertain the scope of the relatives’ authority to 
pay the decedent’s debts. 

65 An inappropriate leading question is one that 
instructs the person on how to answer or puts 
words in his or her mouth to be echoed back. 

66 15 U.S.C. 1692e. 

67 75 FR at 62,394. 
68 See, e.g., Phillips & Cohen Assocs., Ltd. at 4 

(‘‘collectors have an affirmative responsibility to 
help avoid creating the misimpression that Informal 
Administrators are responsible for paying the debts 
of the decedent in instances in which they are 
not.’’); Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., LPA at 3; 
AARP at 1; New York City Dept. of Consumer 
Affairs at 4. 

69 N. Am. Collection Agency Regulatory Ass’n at 
1. 

70 Nat’l Consumer Law Ctr. at 3; AARP at 5; New 
York City Dept. of Consumer Affairs at 4–5. 

71 ACA Int’l at 4–5; Phillips & Cohen Assocs., Ltd. 
at 4–5; West Asset Mgmt., Inc. at 4–5; Bass & 
Assocs., P.C. at 3; Barron, Newburger & Sinsley, 
PLLC (Nov. 4, 2010) at 13. 

72 Some comments claimed that the disclosures in 
the proposed Statement would be inaccurate 
because they would be used in circumstances in 
which individuals, in fact, are personally liable. 
Barron, Newburger & Sinsley, for example, 
suggested that the second clause of the disclosure 
could be improved by modifying it to read, ‘‘the 
individual may not be required to use the 
individual’s assets * * *’’ Barron, Newburger & 
Sinsley, PLLC (Nov. 4, 2010) at 13 (emphasis 
added). The Commission believes that the word 
‘‘may’’ would not convey accurately the 
unlikelihood that the authorized person would have 
to use his or her own assets to pay the debt. In any 
event, collectors should be able to determine in 
most cases whether the person contacted is liable 
to pay the debts at issue from his or own assets. For 
example, by reviewing underlying credit contracts, 
collectors often can determine if the individual is 
jointly liable as a co-signor. By knowing the identity 
of original creditors, such as a hospice or hospital, 
and applicable state laws concerning medical debts, 
collectors likewise can often ascertain if the 
decedent incurred medical debts for which a spouse 
is liable. And, by reviewing applicable state laws, 
collectors generally can determine whether a 
spouse is liable under state community property 
laws. Collectors have an obligation to resolve these 
issues and disclose sufficient information to the 
individuals contacted so that consumers are not 
deceived in violation of the FDCPA and Section 5 
of the FTC Act. 

73 It is not a per se violation of the law for 
collectors to attempt to persuade the person with 
the requisite authority to pay the debt out of her 
own assets. It is a violation, however, for a collector 
to: (1) Misrepresent that the person has a legal 
obligation to use his or her own assets to pay the 
debt; or (2) engage in harassing, oppressive, or 
abusive conduct to collect the debt. 

74 Many of the calls to which FTC staff listened 
during its investigations of collectors of deceased 
accounts included questions about assets. For 
example, collectors have, in the past, asked whether 
the decedent owned any cars, real property, bank 
accounts, life insurance policies, etc. Often, 
depending on the applicable laws and/or how the 
asset was titled, some of these assets may not be 
subject to creditors’ claims. Consequently, 
consumers can easily be misled into believing that 
a particular asset is subject to the debt collector’s 
claim when it is not, and that the consumer may 
have to use the proceeds of unreachable assets to 
satisfy the decedent’s debts. Collectors may still ask 
about these assets to ascertain whether the assets 
are reachable or not, but should make clear to the 
consumer that those assets that are unreachable are, 
in fact, not part of the estate or otherwise subject 
to the collector’s claim. 

specific questions that are more 
appropriate to the situation at hand. 

Based on its law enforcement 
experience 64 and the comments 
received, the Commission believes that 
it is impractical to limit collectors to a 
prescribed list of questions that would 
apply to all possible situations in which 
a collector may need to communicate 
with a person to obtain location 
information. Thus, the Commission will 
not prescribe the precise language that 
a collector must use in such situations. 
Instead, a collector may ask a person 
clarifying questions when seeking to 
identify and locate the person with the 
authority to pay the decedent’s debts 
from the estate’s assets, but a collector 
should not use inappropriate leading 
questions 65 or engage in any other 
conduct that may cause the person 
contacted to assert mistakenly that he or 
she has the requisite authority. In most 
cases, questions about whether the 
person contacted is ‘‘handling the 
decedent’s final affairs’’ or paid for the 
decedent’s funeral are not likely to elicit 
sufficient evidence of authority on their 
own and may lead the person contacted 
to assert authority mistakenly. 
Questions about whether the person 
contacted is opening the decedent’s 
mail also are unlikely to be probative of 
whether that person has authority to pay 
the decedent’s debts out of the estate’s 
assets. Debt collectors using these 
questions must assess whether, in the 
context of a specific communication, 
they effectively solicit useful 
information without misleading 
consumers. 

3. Misleading Consumers About Their 
Personal Obligation To Pay the 
Decedent’s Debt 

The proposed Statement advised that, 
in communicating with persons who 
have the authority to pay the decedent’s 
debts out of the estate’s assets, it would 
violate Section 5 of the FTC Act and 
Section 807 of the FDCPA 66 for a debt 
collector to mislead those persons about 
whether they are personally liable for 
those debts, or about which assets a 
collector could legally seek to satisfy 
those debts. The proposed Statement 
specifically emphasized that: 

[e]ven in the absence of any specific 
representations, depending on the 

circumstances, a collector’s communication 
with an individual might convey the 
misimpression that the individual is 
personally liable for the decedent’s debts, or 
that the collector could seek certain assets to 
satisfy the debt. To avoid creating such a 
misimpression, it may be necessary for the 
collector to disclose clearly and prominently 
that: (1) It is seeking payment from the assets 
in the decedent’s estate; and (2) the 
individual could not be required to use the 
individual’s assets or assets the individual 
owned jointly with the decedent to pay the 
decedent’s debt.67 

Commenters, including debt 
collectors, strongly agreed with the FTC 
that debt collectors have an affirmative 
responsibility under the law not to 
mislead individuals they contact about 
their responsibility to pay for the 
decedent’s debts.68 An association of 
state debt collection regulators, in 
particular, supported the proposed 
disclosure unequivocally, as a means of 
preventing deception.69 

Other comments supported the idea of 
a disclosure, but suggested that 
collectors use different language than 
that suggested in the proposed 
Statement. Some comments argued that 
the proposed disclosure is too narrow, 
asserting that consumers need more or 
better information.70 On the other hand, 
some comments argued that the 
proposed disclosure is too broad, 
emphasizing that there are 
circumstances in which the individual 
contacted in fact could be personally 
liable out of his or her own assets or out 
of assets owned jointly with the 
decedent.71 

Based on the comments received and 
its law enforcement experience, the 
Commission concludes that the 
information that must be disclosed to 
avoid deception when collectors contact 
individuals with the authority to pay 
the decedent’s debts depends on the 
circumstances. The proposed Statement 
suggested two possible disclosures: (1) 
That the collector is seeking payment 
from the assets in the decedent’s estate; 
and (2) the individual could not be 
required to use the individual’s assets or 
assets the individual owned jointly with 

the decedent to pay the decedent’s debt. 
These disclosures generally will be 
sufficient to prevent deception. 
Nevertheless, there may be 
circumstances in which these 
disclosures are not applicable or 
sufficient to prevent deception.72 The 
collector has the responsibility of 
tailoring the information it discloses to 
avoid misleading consumers.73 

A collector also should not use 
questions about the decedent’s assets to 
mislead the person who has the 
authority to pay the decedent’s debts 
from the estate into believing incorrectly 
that those assets are subject to the 
collector’s claim.74 Although such 
questions are not necessarily deceptive, 
the collector may need to take 
precautions to prevent the person from 
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75 Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 
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1 In particular, the written request for confidential 
treatment that accompanies the comment must 
include the factual and legal basis for the request, 
and must identify the specific portions of the 
comment to be withheld from the public record. See 
FTC Rule 4.9(c), 16 CFR 4.9(c). 

enforcement when debt collectors go 
beyond the very limited inquiries 
allowed by today’s action. I urge my 
fellow Commissioners and staff to 
couple today’s action with strict 
monitoring of the industry going 
forward, to ensure its close adherence to 
the criteria set forth in the Policy 
Statement. If abuse becomes 
widespread, I would recommend 
withdrawal of the Policy Statement by 
the Commission. 

The new Bureau of Consumer 
Financial Protection, created under the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act, will have an 
important role in this area as well. 
Dodd-Frank grants the new Bureau of 
Consumer Financial Protection the 
authority to promulgate regulations 
under the FDCPA, an authority that the 
Federal Trade Commission has not 
possessed. In the event that the 
Commission finds that the debt 
collection industry is not adequately 
adhering to the limited inquiries 
allowed under this Policy Statement, I 
hope my fellow Commissioners and 
staff will work closely with the new 
Bureau to further develop appropriate 
rules to be applied to the collection of 
the debts of decedents. 
[FR Doc. 2011–18904 Filed 7–26–11; 8:45 am] 

BILLING CODE 6750–01–P 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

[File No. 091 0136] 

Cardinal Health, Inc.; Analysis of 
Agreement Containing Consent Order 
to Aid Public Comment 

AGENCY: Federal Trade Commission. 
ACTION: Proposed Consent Agreement. 

SUMMARY: The consent agreement in this 
matter settles alleged violations of 
federal law prohibiting unfair or 
deceptive acts or practices or unfair 
methods of competition. The attached 
Analysis to Aid Public Comment 
describes both the allegations in the 
draft complaint and the terms of the 
consent order—embodied in the consent 
agreement—that would settle these 
allegations. 

DATES: Comments must be received on 
or before August 22, 2011. 
ADDRESSES: Interested parties may file a 
comment online or on paper, by 
following the instructions in the 
Request for Comment part of the 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION section 
below. Write ‘‘Cardinal Health, File No. 
091 0136’’ on your comment, and file 
your comment online at https:// 
ftcpublic.commentworks.com/ftc/ 

cardinalhealthconsent, by following the 
instructions on the Web-based form. If 
you prefer to file your comment on 
paper, mail or deliver your comment to 
the following address: Federal Trade 
Commission, Office of the Secretary, 
Room H–113 (Annex D), 600 
Pennsylvania Avenue, NW., 
Washington, DC 20580. 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
William H. Efron (212–607–2827), FTC 
Northeast Region, 600 Pennsylvania 
Avenue, NW., Washington, DC 20580. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: Pursuant 
to section 6(f) of the Federal Trade 
Commission Act, 38 Stat. 721, 15 U.S.C. 
46(f), and § 2.34 the Commission Rules 
of Practice, 16 CFR 2.34, notice is 
hereby given that the above-captioned 
consent agreement containing a consent 
order to cease and desist, having been 
filed with and accepted, subject to final 
approval, by the Commission, has been 
placed on the public record for a period 
of thirty (30) days. The following 
Analysis to Aid Public Comment 
describes the terms of the consent 
agreement, and the allegations in the 
complaint. An electronic copy of the 
full text of the consent agreement 
package can be obtained from the FTC 
Home Page (for July 21, 2011), on the 
World Wide Web, at http://www.ftc.gov/ 
os/actions.shtm. A paper copy can be 
obtained from the FTC Public Reference 
Room, Room 130–H, 600 Pennsylvania 
Avenue, NW., Washington, DC 20580, 
either in person or by calling (202) 326– 
2222. 

You can file a comment online or on 
paper. For the Commission to consider 
your comment, we must receive it on or 
before June 10, 2011. Write ‘‘Cardinal 
Health, File No. 091 0136’’ on your 
comment. Your comment—including 
your name and your state—will be 
placed on the public record of this 
proceeding, including, to the extent 
practicable, on the public Commission 
Web site, at http://www.ftc.gov/os/ 
publiccomments.shtm. As a matter of 
discretion, the Commission tries to 
remove individuals’ home contact 
information from comments before 
placing them on the Commission Web 
site. 

Because your comment will be made 
public, you are solely responsible for 
making sure that your comment does 
not include any sensitive personal 
information, like anyone’s Social 
Security number, date of birth, driver’s 
license number or other state 
identification number or foreign country 
equivalent, passport number, financial 
account number, or credit or debit card 
number. You are also solely responsible 
for making sure that your comment does 

not include any sensitive health 
information, like medical records or 
other individually identifiable health 
information. In addition, do not include 
any ‘‘[t]rade secret or any commercial or 
financial information which is obtained 
from any person and which is privileged 
or confidential,’’ as provided in Section 
6(f) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 46(f), and 
FTC Rule 4.10(a)(2), 16 CFR 4.10(a)(2). 
In particular, do not include 
competitively sensitive information 
such as costs, sales statistics, 
inventories, formulas, patterns, devices, 
manufacturing processes, or customer 
names. 

If you want the Commission to give 
your comment confidential treatment, 
you must file it in paper form, with a 
request for confidential treatment, and 
you have to follow the procedure 
explained in FTC Rule 4.9(c), 16 CFR 
4.9(c).cuA7.j
T*n(c), 16 CFR )Tj ses. 
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